1986

Lee R. Meyers v. Salt Lake City Corporation, a municipal corporation of the State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Is a letter from the police department, notifying a complaining citizen of the results of an internal investigation an "admission against interest" in a subsequent civil tort suit for the allegedly tortious conduct of the police officer?

2. Is an internal police department investigation of alleged police officer misconduct (which is undertaken for the purpose of determining whether or not an officer's actions warrant administrative action pursuant to civil service regulations) considered to have the same standards and elements as tort negligence, so that an administrative finding of police misconduct is also an admission of tort liability?

3. Is the evidentiary value of the results of an internal

police investigation of alleged police officer misconduct (undertaken for administrative purposes) outweighed by "unfair prejudice", "confusion of issues" and "misleading the jury", so that it should have been excluded from evidence under Rule 404 of the Utah Rules of Evidence?

4. Does public policy (which requires prompt, fair and open investigations of alleged police misconduct by superiors), give the City a privilege or justification to insist that findings of police officer misconduct and any sanctions imposed against an officer be excluded from evidence in a subsequent civil tort trial, under the provisions of Section 78-24-8 Utah Code Ann., 1953?

5. Is an internal investigation of alleged police officer misconduct, its findings and any administrative sanctions imposed on a police officer excludable evidence from a civil tort trial as "Subsequent Remedial Measures" under the provisions of Rule 407 of the Utah Rules of Evidence?

II

STATEMENT OF CASE

Plaintiff-Meyers sued Salt Lake City, under the doctrine of respondeat superior for the alleged negligent or willful and intentional misconduct of a police officer, who purportedly shut plaintiff's leg in a car door when this citizen attempted to exit his vehicle after disobeying police traffic control instructions. During trial, the issue arose as to whether or not to

admit a letter from the Police Department to the Plaintiff, which informed the Plaintiff-Meyers of the results of his complaint.

III

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

The intentional and willful misconduct allegations of the complaint were dismissed, upon stipulation of the parties, and the case proceeded to trial upon the negligence cause of action. Contrary to Salt Lake City's Motion in Limini and over trial objection, the lower court admitted, in evidence, a letter from the police department, advising Plaintiff-Meyers, in general terms, of the results of an internal affairs police investigation; the Court ruled the letter constituted an "admission against interest." A subsequent motion by the City for a new trial, based on the error of admitting the subject letter, was denied.

IV

DISPOSITION IN COURT BELOW

The jury found Salt Lake City liable and awarded damages totalling \$26,962.84. The Court entered Judgment against Salt Lake City for the sum of \$22,676.55.

V

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts, when viewed in a light most favorable to the jury verdict, demonstrate the following:

1. During the floods of 1983, water was diverted down State

Street in Salt Lake City, necessitating a rerouting of traffic.
(R-2)

2. Officer James R. Nelson was stationed at 600 South and Main Street, in his official capacity as a sworn City police officer, to direct that traffic. (R-2,3)

3. Plaintiff-Meyers was driving southbound on Main Street looking to make a left turn to proceed east. (R-2).

4. An argument developed between Plaintiff-Meyers and Officer Nelson as to whether or not Plaintiff-Meyers was allowed to turn left. (R-3) Officer Nelson struck Plaintiff-Meyers' vehicle to stop. Plaintiff-Meyers stopped, opened his car door and attempted to exit the vehicle. Nelson attempted to keep Mr. Meyers in the car by forcing the door shut and Plaintiff-Meyers' foot was caught between the door and the car. Plaintiff-Meyers claimed injury from the door being closed on his ankle. (R-246; R-239,240)

5. Plaintiff-Meyers complained to Salt Lake City Police Internal Affairs Department concerning the conduct of Officer Nelson. Under Civil Service Rules and State law, the police chief has the duty to supervise this para-military force and may administer discipline for up to 15 days, without appeal rights of the officer; more severe sanctions permit an appeal to a citizen member Civil Service Commission. Section 10-3-909-912; 10-3-1001-13 Utah Code Ann., 1953, as amended. Thus, pursuant to departmental practice, an department investigation was conducted

to determine if some police administrative action was in order against Officer Nelson. (R-182)

6. During a police department internal investigation, the officer is required, on pain of dismissal, to give a statement. (R-89) No Miranda warning is usually given and the inquiry is directed at determining if the officer violated department rules, procedure or Civil Service Rules and Regulations, including such ethical and public policy matters as acting in a manner to "bring discredit on the department." Salt Lake Civil Service Rule 2.2-6(e), Appendix C; (R-88, 89)

7. The Internal Affairs Division of the City police department conducted an investigation of Plaintiff-Meyers' complaint. It found the actions of Officer Nelson inappropriate for a City officer and notified the Chief of Police, who imposed administrative sanctions on the officer, which included a one day suspension. (R-184) All of these events occurred prior to the filing of any civil suit by Plaintiff-Meyers. (R-3)

8. Plaintiff-Meyers was notified of the disposition of the Internal Affairs complaint by letter from Lt. Duncan of the Internal Affairs Division. The letter stated the complaint was "sustained". "Sustained" was defined in the letter as a ruling that: "the event did occur and the officer is guilty of the complaint alleged or other infraction." (R-183, emphasis added; attached as Appendix "A")

9. Plaintiff-Meyers subsequently filed civil suit, alleging

negligent and willful misconduct on the part of Officer Nelson. (R-2, 3) He, further, asserted the City was vicariously liable under the doctrine of respondeat superior. (R-2, 3) To prove the alleged negligence, Plaintiff-Meyers sought to introduce the police department's Internal Affairs investigation and letter to him, advising that his complaint to the police had been investigated and that Officer Nelson had been found to have acted inappropriately. (R-183, 275) Defendant-Salt Lake City objected vigorously to the discovery of internal affairs investigation matters and made a Motion in Limini to exclude from evidence all materials pertaining to the Internal Affairs investigation, including the subject letter. (R-227-228, 276-280)

10. The lower court took the Motion in Limini under advisement, with the indication that such evidence would not be admitted. (R-282)

11. However, at trial, just before close of Plaintiff-Meyer's case, Judge Rigtrup reversed his previous direction and admitted the Internal Affairs letter from Lt. Duncan. The stated grounds for admission of the letter was that the letter was an "admission against interest." (R-284). Not discussed by the Court were the City's evidentiary objections, other than the hearsay rule. A subsequent motion for a new trial was briefed and argued before Judge Rigtrup, based again on the error of admitting the letter. The motion was denied. (R-253)

12. The jury returned a verdict against Salt Lake City for

the acts of Officer Nelson and assessed damages in the sum of \$26,962.84.

VI

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Rule 407 applicable. Rule 407 of the Utah Rules of Evidence clearly provides that evidence of subsequent measures taken to avoid future harm or to make a similar event less likely to occur is not admissible to prove negligence in a civil suit. Public policy demands that people take steps in the furtherance of safety and judicially treating corrective acts as admissions of liability would chill that sound policy.

Investigations of police misconduct, discipline or retraining are subsequent measures protected by this public policy. Among others, the reasons for disallowing the results of an internal investigation and results of sanctions imposed against a police officer for misconduct are the following:

(1) The City and the police administration would be discouraged- from making a timely, independent and comprehensive evaluation of a citizen's charge of police misconduct, if any subsequent discipline or finding would constitute an admission of civil liability;

(2) There would be a motivation to "whitewash" or make the findings justify otherwise improper conduct in order to build a record of non-liability in subsequent civil litigation;

(3) Allowing these matters in evidence would be a

motivation to delay any investigation past applicable statutes of limitation or past the conclusion of civil cases and, thus, delay retraining, termination of a bad officer or other appropriate corrective sanctions against errant police officers; and

(4) Confidence and respect for civilian control of the para-military police forces of the City would be undermined if delay, whitewash or secrecy of results were maintained.

A complaining citizen has a right to expect and to receive knowledge that his complaint was timely addressed and to be advised, at least generally, of the results of that investigation.

Thus, the underlying philosophy and express provisions of excluding subsequent remedial activities found in Rule 407 are applicable to police internal affairs investigations and any sanctions or notice of that investigation. The lower court erred and must be reversed as a statement of public policy.

2. The subject letter was not competent, relevant or material. A letter written to a citizen advising him that his complaint of police officer misconduct had been received, the issues investigated and that the Officer was ". . . guilty of the complaint alleged or other infraction" was not competent, relevant or material to the tort issues of negligence.

The issues of negligence are whether or not a defendant breached the "duty of due care" owed by a "reasonable man" to a defendant under the circumstances, and whether or not the breach

of duty caused injury. Contrarywise, an internal affairs investigation is concerned with whether or not the police administrative rules or policies were violated. Included in such a review is the non-tort concept of whether the police officer acted in a manner to "bring discredit to the department."

Because the elements of determining whether or not an officer violated the rules and regulations of the department are totally dissimilar to the elements of tort, the finding of a violation of police rules is not an admission of tort negligence. The lower court erred in admitting the letter as an "admission against interests" when the letter merely advised the complaining citizen that his complaint had been sustained and that the officer had violated the rules of the department.

The prejudicial effect of the admission and the abuse of discretion of the lower court is apparent from the verdict. The undisputed evidence demonstrated that the citizen had refused to follow the lawful orders of a police officer in directing traffic during a flood emergency and then attempted to exit his vehicle in a threatening situation. The officer was attempting to keep Mr. Meyer in the car and the undisputed testimony demonstrated that the alleged injury to his ankle could not have occurred in a pincer movement; it would have had to have occurred in a twisting motion. Plaintiff-Meyers admitted he sustained a twisting injury to the same ankle in elk and deer hunting incidents, following the confrontation with Officer Nelson.

The admission of the subject letter was prejudicial and was tantamount to an improper directed verdict on the issues of liability. Thus the lower court should be reversed on the basis that the letter and the results of the investigation were irrelevant, immaterial and incompetent on the tort issues before the jury.

3. Any relevance and materiality of the letter was totally outweighed by the prejudicial effect. In the context of this litigation, the judge had indicated in response to the City's Motion in Limini that the letter was inappropriate and would not be admitted. Near the conclusion of the trial, the Court reversed this preliminary indication and gave the letter to the jury as an "admission against interest."

The letter discusses the Officer being "guilty" of the matters alleged by the complainant or "other applicable regulations." Any marginal relevance, materiality or competence of the letter on the issue of negligence are off-set by the substantial prejudice apparent from the wording of the letter, against the employing entity of the police officer, Salt Lake City Corporation.

The letter was written in fulfillment of public policy dictating a fair and prompt review of a citizen complaint charging police misconduct. The letter was written in furtherance of the public right to be informed of the results of such an investigation. The prejudicial aspect of the letter in

this context should have been recognized by the lower court and excluded from evidence to protect the City against prejudice and preserve the societal interests it was seeking to advance.

VII

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The City seeks a ruling that police Internal Affairs investigations and reports thereof to complaining citizens are not admissible evidence in subsequent civil trials against the City or its police officers. The verdict should be vacated with instructions to the lower court to exclude the internal affairs letter from evidence in any future proceeding.

VIII

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE LETTER IS INADMISSIBLE AS EVIDENCE BECAUSE
SUBSEQUENT MEASURES TAKEN TO PROTECT PUBLIC
SAFETY MAY NOT BE USED TO PROVE NEGLIGENCE.

Rule of Evidence 407 states,

"When after an event, measures are taken which, if taken previously, would have made the event less likely to occur, evidence of the subsequent measures is not admissible to prove negligence or culpable conduct in connection with the event."

Nearly a century ago, the United States Supreme Court explained the reasoning that eventually formed the basis for this rule:

"...The evidence is incompetent because the taking of such precautions against the future is not to be construed as an admission of responsibility for the past, has no legitimate tendency to prove that the defendant had been negligent before the accident

happened, and is calculated to distract the minds of the jury from the real issue, and to create a prejudice against the defendant." Columbia and Puget Sound Ry. Co. v. Hawthorne, 144 U.S. 202, 207, 36 L.Ed.405, 12 S.Ct. 591, 593 (1892) (Emphasis added).

The drafters of Rule 407 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, which was adopted verbatim by Utah, reiterated this reasoning in support of the modern rule;

"The rule rests on two grounds, (1) the conduct is not in fact an admission, since the conduct is equally consistent with injury by mere accident or through contributory negligence . . . (2) the other, and more impressive, ground for exclusion rests on a social policy of encouraging people to take, or at least not discouraging them from taking, steps in furtherance of added safety." (Emphasis added) Advisory Committee Notes to Rules of Evidence 407.

Most modern writers and courts acknowledge the social policy rationale as the basis for Rule 407. See, 29 Am Jur 2d "Evidence" §275 p. 323; 64 ALR 2d "Annotation Evidence--Precautions After Accident" 1296 §3(B); Wright and Graham, Federal Practice and Procedure, Vol. 23 §. 5282, p. 88.

The drafters of Rule 407 specifically note that:

"courts have applied this principle to exclude evidence of . . . discharge of employees, and the language of the present rule is broad enough to encompass this issue." See, Advisory Committee Notes to Evidentiary Rule 407 (emphasis added).

In a case virtually identical to the case at bar the California Supreme Court held disciplinary action following an incident was inadmissible. Here, the city of Los Angeles was the defendant in a personal injury action, arising out of an alleged assault made on a citizen by a city police officer. The

complainant citizen served an interrogatory on the city, requesting any information concerning suspensions of the police officer. The trial and appellate courts both ruled such information was discoverable; however, the appellate court noted that:

"Any suspension resulting from the incident [in question] would not be discoverable in view of the settled rule prohibiting the use of remedial measures undertaken after an event to prove negligence or culpability in connection with the event itself." City of L.A. v. Superior Court of City of L.A., 109 Cal. Rptr. 365, 368 (1973) (Emphasis added).

Similar to the California case facts and the Advisory Committee observations, the case at bar presents a case where, following a police officer/citizen confrontation, an internal police department administrative review was undertaken. The officer was determined to have violated department rules and was suspended one day's pay.¹ Also, the complaining citizen was generically informed that his allegations had been investigated and that the police department had found the officer had violated department rules of conduct towards citizens. Such an investigation and its results and sanctions against the officer are "measures" taken following an "event" which are those which would have made the "event less likely to occur" within the meaning of Rule 407. The letter, thus, should not have been

¹R-184.

admitted in evidence before the jury.

The act of promptly investigating complaints and timely informing a complaining citizen of the results of that investigation promotes the spirit of Rule 407. It promotes public confidence that wrongdoing is appropriately punished, that government is responsive to their charges of official misconduct and their police can be administratively controlled. More significantly, it encourages police self-management and discourages conspiracies of silence to avoid civil liability. Overall public safety from vigorous internal investigation is enhanced, as per the Rule's philosophy.

The policy reasons militating that Utah follow the intent of the drafters of Rule 407 and the California holding are, thus, commanding. Obviously, if an investigation will be evidence of civil liability, a police administration will be motivated to: (a) "white-wash" an incident; (b) fail to notify interested or complaining parties that appropriate action was taken on a complaint of police misconduct; or (c) delay investigations past applicable statutes of limitations or past the conclusion of civil cases. These are the precise types of concerns the common-law and statutory exclusions were intended to prevent.

This conclusion of non-admissibility, also, finds support in the related issue of the privilege against evidentiary discovery of internal affairs investigatory matters in a civil tort proceeding. These internal affairs investigations are protected

under Utah law, which provides:

"There are particular relations in which it is the policy of the law to encourage confidence and to preserve it inviolate. Therefore, a person cannot be examined as a witness in the following cases:

. . .

"(5) A public officer cannot be examined as to communications made to him in official confidence when the public interests would suffer by the disclosure." 78-24-8(5) Utah Code Ann., 1953 as amended (Emphasis added).

This general statement of executive privilege has been recognized by the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals in the context of police internal affairs investigations. Denver Policemen's Protective Ass'n v. Lichtenstein, 660 F.2d 432 (1981). Regarding this issue, the Tenth Circuit ruled,

"The executive privilege allows governmental department heads to prevent disclosure of documents within their control, if nondisclosure would serve the public interest. Id. 660 F.2d at 437 (Emphasis added).

The Lichtenstein court applied a "balancing test" to the criminal defendant's attempt to discover the internal investigation files which he believed contained exculpatory material necessary to his effective defense. The Court remanded to allow only an in camera review by the trial court to see if any such material existed. However, the court clearly recognized the important individual rights of privacy that may be invaded by discovery and significant societal interests at issue. It cited with approval a Colorado State Court decision approving a recognition of these interests, stating:

"'. . . a court should consider and weigh whether disclosure would be contrary to the public interest.'" Id. at p. 438, quoting Martinelli v. Dist. Ct. in and for County of Denver, 612 P.2d 1083, 1093 (Colo. 1980) (Emphasis added).

An often cited federal court suggests a 10 part analysis is applicable, before civil discovery is permitted of any police investigatory file. Those criteria are:

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