1986

Lee R. Meyers v. Salt Lake City Corporation, a municipal corporation of the State of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The disputed letter is defined as non-hearsay under the Rules of Evidence since it constitutes an admission of a party, and is relevant because it concerns facts which are in issue in this action.

2. The City's remaining evidentiary objections were raised for the first time in posttrial proceedings. Those objections; first, that the letter discloses subsequent remedial measures; second, that the letter is protected by a statutory or common law executive privilege, and third, that the prejudicial impact of the letter outweighs its probative value, are meritless anyway.

3. In addition to the letter, there is substantial, uncontradicted evidence of the City's liability for the plaintiff's injury. Therefore, it if was error to receive the letter in evidence, it was harmless error.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE POLICE CHIEF'S LETTER TO THE PLAINTIFF WAS PROPERLY RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE AS AN ADMISSION BY A PARTY ON A SUBJECT RELEVANT TO THE ACTION.

The letter whose admissibility is the subject of this appeal is a classic example of an extrajudicial statement by a party which is not subject to hearsay objection under Rule 801(d)(2) of the Utah Rules of Evidence:

Statements which are not hearsay.
A statement is not hearsay if

* * *

(2) Admission by party opponent.
The statement is offered against a party and is (a) his own statement, either in his individual or representative capacity, or (B) a statement of which he has manifested his adoption or belief in its truth, or (C) a statement by a person authorized by him to make a statement concerning this subject, or (D) a statement by his agent or servant concerning a matter within the scope of his agency or employment, made during the existence of the relationship; or (E) a statement by a co-conspirator of a party during the course and in furtherance of the conspiracy.

The letter in issue was offered against a party, the defendant Salt Lake City. It was made by agents of Salt Lake City, Chief of Police Willoughby and Lt. Duncan, during the existence of their employment relationship. The City has never contended that the subject matter of the letter was outside the scope of the employment of its authors; the chief of police is the city officer responsible for the entire police department, and Lt. Duncan is the person to whom the investigation which is the subject of the letter was assigned.

On the same ground, in a very similar case, the Alaska Supreme Court ruled that a memorandum reflecting the results of an internal police department investigation of an officer's culpability for a traffic accident should have been received in evidence in a civil trial arising out of the accident. Rutherford v. State, 605 P.2d 16 (Alaska 1979). The Alaska Court held that as a memorandum prepared by agents of the City authorized to investigate the accident it was admissible as substantive evidence of the facts admitted, without regard to whether the admissions were in the form of opinion or were based on other than first hand knowledge, and without the foundation or predicate ordinarily required for impeaching evidence.

The only hearsay objection presently in issue is one the City raises for the first time on appeal, that the

trial court erred in admitting the letter without first determining that the declarant was unavailable. This argument is completely without merit. If a written statement satisfies the requirements of Rule 801(d), it is a "statement which is not hearsay" and any hearsay objection is overcome without regard to the availability of the declarant. (Confusion may arise since the Rules require a showing of unavailability before the prior statement against interest of a non-party is received under Rule 804(b)(4), A party is, of course, available by virtue of its presence at trial).

The actual basis of the City's objection to the letter at trial was that it is irrelevant and immaterial to the issues of the case.

Rule 401 of the Utah Rules of Evidence defines relevant evidence as follows:

Relevant evidence means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.

The letter in question, by its terms, relates to "an incident which occurred on 5/31/83 at 6th South and Main Street", and which led Lee Meyers to charge Officer Nelson "with excessive force". This action was filed because of an incident on that date at that location, and the plaintiff's claim is that Officer Nelson physically injured him through

the use of unreasonable force. The letter and lawsuit obviously relate to the same subject matter, and any doubt is removed by comparing the letter with the plaintiff's internal affairs complaint (Exhibit B).

The critical admission in the letter is that the complaint was "sustained" and that sustained means "the event did occur." In effect, the City, through its agents, said that it investigated the charge made by Lee Meyers that certain events occurred, including the use by an officer of "excessive force", and that the City concluded that these events did occur and the officer did use excessive force.

Whether or not Officer Nelson used excessive force in his interactions with Lee Meyers is "a fact of consequence to the determination of the action." That the City admitted he used excessive force is definitely evidence having a tendency to make it more probable that he did. The very basis for what this Court has called "the age old common law exception to the hearsay rule known as an admission of a party", State v. Kerekes, 622 P.2d 1161, 1164 (Utah 1980), is the natural presumption that a party's admission against its own interest tends to be reliable.

The City contends that its conclusion that Officer Nelson was guilty of excessive force was based upon different evidentiary standards than those which apply in a civil action and that its use of the phrase "guilty of the complaint alleged

or other infraction" means that Nelson might have been found guilty of violating an administrative rule unrelated to the elements of a tort action.

Even if these contentions had any bearing on the relevancy of the letter, they are not accurate. The complaint disposition review sheet from the City's internal affairs file establishes both the basis of the City's conclusions and the evidentiary standard employed (R. 184, Exhibit C).

First, the form describes the four findings which might be made as a result of an internal affairs investigation:

UNFOUNDED - The complaint, as reported, didn't occur.

EXONERATED - The event did occur as reported, but the officer's actions were lawful and reasonable.

NOT SUSTAINED - Facts do not support a conclusion of guilt or innocence on the part of the officer. Therefore, the complaint is resolved in his favor.

SUSTAINED - The event did occur and the officer is guilty of the complaint alleged or other infraction.

It is noteworthy that before a complaint against an officer is sustained, the Internal Affairs Department must conclude both that the event complained of occurred and that the conduct of the officer was not lawful and reasonable. Furthermore, the evidence considered must preponderate against the officer before a complaint will be sustained.

The comments of Division Commander Peck also establish that the basis of the finding was the same conduct which

was the subject of the lawsuit: Nelson's use of unreasonable force which caused an injury to the plaintiff.

Although the complaintant was wrong in making the left turn described, I feel the Officer over reacted and used excessive force. The available physical evidence, i.e., bruises and discoloration of the complaintant's skin and the dents and marks on the automobile are consistent with the complaintant's allegations. All witnesses, except Nelson, agreed substantially on what took place with the exception of Nelson calling the complaintant a SOB. (R. 184)(Appendix C).

Neither the evidentiary standards nor the factual findings which led to the July 1 letter are so different from those employed in the tort action as to render the letter irrelevant.

Most importantly, it should be recognized that it is not the burden of one offering the extrajudicial statement of a party opponent to establish the underlying reasons for the admission. Once the requirements of Rule 801 are satisfied as to a statement which relates to the subject matter of the lawsuit, the statement should be admitted. The party who made the statement is then free to explain the basis or the context of the statement, or even to disavow it, through his own testimony. Michael v. Bauman, 76 N.M. 255, 413 P.2d 888 (1966).

As the Supreme Court of Hawaii said in reference

to the identical evidentiary provision,

'The extrajudicial statements of a party opponent, when offered against the same, are universally deemed admissible at trial as substantive evidence of the fact or facts stated.' [P]arty admissions, unlike statements against interest, need not have been against the declarant's interest when made, need not be based on the declarant's personal knowledge, may be in the form of an opinion, and are admissible at trial regardless of whether the declarant is unavailable.' Their free admissibility 'is grounded upon the adversary theory of litigation' rather than any circumstantial indicia of reliability.

* * *

'A party can hardly object that he had no opportunity to cross-examine himself or that he is unworthy of credence save when speaking under sanction of an oath.' And if his earlier statement is not repeated accurately, 'he now as opponent has the full opportunity to put himself on the stand and explain his former assertion.' 4 Wigmore, Evidence §1048 (Chadbourn rev. 1972).

(Citations omitted); Shea v. City and County of Honolulu, 692 P.2d 1158, 1165 (Hawaii 1985).

The City in this case had every opportunity to explain its prior statement, both by calling witnesses, and through argument. (R. 283-285). Nothing more was required.

POINT 2

THE CITY'S REMAINING EVIDEN-
TIARY OBJECTIONS WERE NOT
MADE AT TRIAL AND CANNOT BE
RAISED ON APPEAL.

In addition to challenging its relevance and materiality, the City raises three grounds of error in the admission of the July 1 letter; first, that the letter was evidence of subsequent remedial measures within the meaning of Rule 407 of the Utah Rules of Evidence; second, that the letter is protected by the official information privilege established by Utah Code Anno. §78-24-8, and third, that if the letter is relevant, its unfairly prejudicial impact substantially outweighs its probative value within the meaning of Rule 403 of the Utah Rules of Evidence.

None of these grounds for objection to the admissibility of the letter were asserted by the City at trial. The City's motion in limine states no grounds (R.227) and its memorandum deals exclusively with the question of relevance and materiality (R. 236). Similarly, in oral argument on the motion, those grounds were not asserted and only hearsay, relevance and materiality were discussed (R. 273-286). The additional grounds were raised for the first time in the City's motion for a new trial (R. 251), and are asserted again on appeal.

In the case of Barson v. E.R. Squibb, 682 P.2d 832 (Utah 1984) the defendant drug manufacturer objected

at trial to the receipt in evidence of package inserts published after the date of the injury out of which the action arose. At trial, the sole contention was that the prejudicial impact of the documents outweighed their probative value within the meaning of former Rule 51 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. In a motion for a new trial and on appeal the company argued that the documents were hearsay and should have been excluded on that ground as well. Declining to consider that claim of error, this Court stated, as follows:

The burden is always on the party objecting to make certain that the record adequately preserves an objection or argument for review in the event of an appeal.

In order to preserve a contention of error on appeal, the party claiming error in admission of evidence must raise the objection to the trial court in clear and concise terms and in a timely fashion calculated to obtain a ruling thereon. Where there was no clear and definite objection on the basis of hearsay, that theory cannot now be raised on appeal. Squibb did raise a hearsay objection after judgment was entered in the case. However issues raised for the first time in post-judgment motions are raised too late to be reviewed on appeal. Therefore, we are precluded from addressing this assertion of error on the merits.

Barson v. E.R. Squibb and Sons, Inc., supra, 682 P.2d at 837-838.

This Court ought not to reach the merits of the three objections raised for the first time after trial. Nevertheless, each will be briefly addressed.

(1) Subsequent remedial measures. Rule 407 of the Utah Rules of Evidence states, as follows:

When, after an event, measures are taken which, if taken previously, would have made the event less likely to occur, evidence of the subsequent measures is not admissible to prove negligence or culpable conduct in connection with the event. This rule does not require the exclusion of evidence of subsequent measures when offered for another purpose, such as proving ownership, control, or feasibility of precautionary measures, if controverted, or impeachment.

By its terms, this rule has no application to the July 1 letter. The letter contains no reference to a measure taken after an event " . . . which, if taken previously, would have made the event less likely to occur." It does not, for example, inform Mr. Meyers that Officer Nelson was suspended for a day as a result of his conduct.

Rule 407 "prohibits evidence of post-accident changes that make things different or better than they were at the time of an accident." Patrick v. South Central Bell Tel. Co., 641 F.2d 1192, 1196 (6th Cir. 1980). No such changes are referred to in the disputed letter. The rule does not prohibit "competent evidence resulting from an internal investigation of a mishap", Westmorland v. CBS, Inc., 601 F. Supp. 66 (S.D.N.Y 1984), which is what the plaintiff offered in this instance.

2. Official Privilege. Utah Code Ann. §78-24-8(5) (Supp. 1986), the section relied upon by the City as the basis of its claim for privilege, provides, as follows:

Privileged Communications. There are particular relations in which it is the policy of the law to encourage confidence and to preserve it inviolate. Therefore, a person cannot be examined as a witness in the following cases:

* * *

(5) A public officer cannot be examined as to communications made to him in official confidence when public interest would suffer by the disclosure.

Lt. Duncan and Chief Willoughby were not examined as witnesses about their internal investigation of the plaintiff's injuries. They mailed a letter to the plaintiff who offered it in evidence himself. This statutory provision has no application whatsoever to the admissibility of the letter.

The City also cites cases which address the applicability of a common law "official information privilege" to discovery requests for access to confidential executive files, e.g., Martinelli v. District Court In and For City Etc., 612 P.2d 1083 (Colo. 1980); Denver Policemen's Protective Ass'n. v. Lichtenstein, 660 F.2d 432 (10th Cir. 1981). These decisions and the standards they express were fully considered by the trial court in ruling on the plaintiff's pretrial discovery motions requesting access to the Internal Affairs

file in the first instance (R. 49-93, 108-109). The pre-trial discovery order is not the subject of this appeal. The official information privilege can have no bearing on the admissibility of the disputed letter since the exhibit was not obtained through disclosure of confidential information in official files. Any privilege that might arguably apply to the results of an official internal investigation was waived as to the contents of the letter the City voluntarily mailed to the plaintiff.

(c) Rule 403. Rule 403 of the Utah Rules of Evidence provides, as follows:

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

The City contends that the disputed letter confused the issues, misled the jury, and unfairly prejudiced the City's defense because "the jury was never instructed that the determination made in the letter was not based upon negligence" or that the determination was based upon "an entirely different factual and legal standard than that which concerned the tort case", and because the letter left it unclear whether the conduct evaluated by the City was the same conduct involved in the civil case. (Brief of Appellant, p. 26).

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